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DECISION

Introduction and Procedural Summary
 On July 9, 2024, a request for due process hearing (complaint) was filed against XXXXXXXXXX Public Schools (XPS) by XXXXXXXXXXXXX (petitioner, Mom, parent), on behalf of her minor child, XXXXXXXXXXXx (student, child).  The complaint was filed pursuant to the Individuals with Disabilities Education Act (IDEA), 20 U.S.C. §1400 et. seq.  XPS responded to the complaint on July 19, 2024.   

The Hearing Officer was formally appointed on July 10, 2024, by letter from XXXXXXXXXX, Director, Office of Exceptional Education, XXXXXXXXXX Public Schools (XPS), XXXXXXXXXX, Virginia.  Brian Miller was appointed case monitor by the Virginia Department of Education (VDOE) on July 11, 2024.  The parent is represented by Advocate Kandise Lucas, Prince George, Virginia.  XPS is represented by Matthew Woodward and Pakapon Phinyowattanachip, of the law firm of Haney Phinyowattanachip, XXXXXXXXXX, Richmond.  
 
The Hearing Officer entered a standing order on July 11, 2024.  Three telephonic prehearing conference calls were conducted on July 15, 2024, August 13, 2024, and August 20, 2024.  Notice of each call was sent to the parties in a timely manner prior to the calls.  Three prehearing orders were entered on July 16, 2024, August 13, 2024, and August 20, 2024.  All parties were present for the first prehearing conference call on July 15, 2024.  Neither the parent nor her advocate attended the August 13, 2024 or August 20, 2024 conference calls.  

The parties conducted one resolution session on July 15, 2024.  The petitioner declined mediation.  Exhibits and witness lists were timely exchanged and submitted to the Hearing Officer on August 19, 2024.

The hearing was set for August 26, 27, and 28, 2024, with an extension date of August 29, 2024, if needed.  The hearing was held on August 26, and 27, 2024.  Timely notice of the hearing was sent to the parties.  Filed for the record are: the complaint; XPS response to complaint; Hearing Officer appointment letter; letter from XPS to parent; prehearing reports (draft and final); three prehearing orders; one standing order; conference call notices; hearing notice; subpoenas; closing briefs; exhibit books; witness lists; hearing transcript; interim order; filings from both parties, including motions and response documents; hearing agenda; and copies of pertinent electronic messages. 

The Hearing
This two-day hearing commenced, as scheduled, on August 26, 2024, and concluded on August 27, 2024.  The hearing was conducted in person at XXXXXXXXXXXXXXXX, XXXXXXXXXX, Virginia XXXXXx.  The hearing was open to the public.

The following persons were present for each day of the hearing:

	Rhonda Mitchell, Hearing Officer
	Kandise Lucas, Advocate for Parent / Petitioner / Student
	XXXXXXXXXXXx, Student
	XXXXXXXXXXXXX, Petitioner / Parent
	XXXXXXXXXXXXXx, Xxxxxxxxx
Pakapon Phinyowattanachip, Counsel for XPS
Matthew Woodward, Co-Counsel for XPS
	XXXXXXXXXX, Representative, XPS
	Brian Miller, Case Monitor, VDOE

The following witnesses were sworn and testified during the hearing:

Day 1 – August 26, 2024 (for the petitioner)
XXXXXXXXXXXXXx, Student’s XXXXXXX
XXXXXXXXXXXXXx, Family Outreach Coordinator
XXXXXXXXXXXXX, Student’s Mother, Petitioner

Day 2 – August 27, 2024 (for the respondent)
XXXXXXXXXx, Assistant Principal, XPS
XXXXXXXXXXXXXXx, Assistant Principal, XPS
XXXXXXXXXX, Director, Exceptional Education, XPS

At the conclusion of testimony, the parties declined to present oral closing arguments.  They opted to include their closing arguments in written closing briefs.  The respondent submitted a closing brief on September 6, 2024.  The petitioner’s advocate submitted a draft closing brief on September 6, 2024.

Interim Order
Upon conclusion of the hearing, the Hearing Officer entered an oral interim order that was memorialized by a written order dated August 28, 2024.  In summary, the Hearing Officer ordered that the student receive home-based services beginning September 3, 2024 because the student had been out of school since March 2024.  Also, during the resolution session on July 15, 2024, XPS agreed to provide the student with 30 hours of home-based services.

In the order, XPS was directed to immediately locate an available teacher, which they reported was found on or about August 29, 2024.   Home-based services were ordered to continue until the Hearing Officer entered the final decision, or, unless otherwise extended in the final decision.   The student’s educational curriculum was ordered to be similar to, or the same as, XXx XXXX grade peers attending a XPS XXXXXXXX school.  

The Hearing Officer further ordered that the student be evaluated, at public expense, by independent educational evaluators.  The student was ordered to receive the following independent educational evaluations (IEEs):  socio-cultural, psychological, and speech - language.  XPS was ordered to conduct audio-logical screening, hearing, and vision testing.   The Hearing Officer made clear at the hearing that the evaluators were to be selected from a XPS approved list of evaluators.  The approved list was provided to the parties and the Hearing Officer by email from XXXXXXXXXX on August 28, 2024.  The list was incorporated into the interim order by reference.  The petitioner was ordered to schedule appointments for the evaluations and to make the student available for both IEEs and school evaluation appointments.  

The petitioner’s advocate did not object to the XPS list when the Hearing Officer rendered her oral order on August 27, 2024.  However, on August 29, 2024, via email message, the petitioner’s advocate identified evaluators, including herself, that were not listed on the XPS approved IEE list.  The Hearing Officer ruled that the identified evaluators were not selected from the approved list and were not acceptable.  The advocate objected, claiming that the order was “illegal” because the parent’s right to select the evaluators had been violated.  On September 2, 2024, the advocate emailed that she was going to appeal the decision and report the ruling to the Office of Special Education Programs. 

Ultimately, the Hearing Officer amended her order to permit the parent to use the list of evaluators she preferred because the time required to get appointments with the XPS listed evaluators was too lengthy.   The petitioner’s advocate indicated that it would take approximately six months to receive the evaluations from the XPS listed evaluators.  XPS did not present evidence to the contrary.

Issues
With concurrence from the petitioner, the issues identified by the Hearing Officer are as follows: 

1. Whether XXXXXXXXXX Public Schools (XPS) knew or suspected that the student had a disability.  If so, whether XPS violated the student’s protections as set forth in 34 CFR 300.534. 

2. Whether the student is entitled to home based and/or homebound services due to Individuals with Disabilities Education Act (IDEA) substantive and/or procedural violations that were allegedly committed by XPS.

3.  Whether XPS violated child find laws by allegedly failing to timely evaluate the student for special education services.

4.  Whether XPS violated child find laws by allegedly failing to determine special education eligibility for the student.

5. Whether the student should be privately placed to receive a free appropriate public education (FAPE) due to alleged XPS violations of 34 CFR 300.534 and child find laws.

Any additional or incidental issues raised by petitioners or respondent during the course of this proceeding that were not directly identified by the Hearing Officer were considered but found to be either outside the scope of the Hearing Officer's authority, inappropriate, redundant, or extraneous to the identified issues.

Burden of Proof
The Petitioner, as the party who filed the request for a due process hearing, bears the burden of proof in this proceeding.  See, e.g., N.P. by S.P. v. Maxwell, 711 F. App’x 713 (4th Cir. 2017) (At an impartial due process hearing, the parents bear the burden of proving that their child was denied a free appropriate public education.)  Id. at 716, citing Weast v. Schaffer ex rel. Schaffer, 377 F.3d 449, 456 (4th Cir. 2004), aff’d, 546 U.S. 49, 126 S.Ct. 528, 163 L.Ed.2d 387 (2005).  The burden of persuasion shall be met by a preponderance of the evidence.  See. e.g., Cty. Sch. Bd. of Henrico Cty., Va. v. R.T., 433 F. Supp. 2d 657, 671 (E.D. Va. 2006) (Hearing Officer’s factual conclusions supported by the preponderance of the record evidence.)  

          Argument Summaries

Petitioner
Petitioner argues that XPS has failed the student and should have assigned a one-on-one for the student.  The student should have been referred earlier for special education services since XPS was told by the mother at the beginning of school that the student had been diagnosed with ADHD.  She claims that if XPS had simply referred to existing data, the student could have been found eligible for special education services in a timely manner.  The petitioner wants the student to be privately placed due to the failures of XPS.  The petitioner has specifically asked that the student be placed at XXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXX, at public expense.    

The petitioner claims that XPS has committed extraordinary neglect, child abuse, emotional distress, and has ostracized a XXX year old.  She claims that XPS refuses to admit that they erred by not identifying the student for special education services sooner.  She contends that XPS had the student in school for six months but failed to get the proper data to complete eligibility.  She claims that they kept denying and delaying.  

The petitioner argues that instead of identifying the student for special education services, they punished the student by repeatedly suspending, demonizing, and criminalizing XXx for displaying the symptoms of XXx ADHD disability.  The petitioner contends that it would be ludicrous to return the student to XXXXX XXXXXXXX School where XX was abused and educationally neglected.

The petitioner claims that she and the student’s XXxxxxxxxxxx had been asking XPS for a one-on-one assistant for over a year.  They kept being told that there was a process.  The mother no longer trusts XPS to educate her child.  She argues that her child needs to be privately placed.  

She claims that after the disciplinary hearing on March 12, 2024, XPS threatened to send her child to an alternative school or expel XXx if XX acted up again.  Believing that her child could not help XXxself due to XXx ADHD; would commit yet another disciplinary infraction; and would face expulsion or alternative school, she did not return her XXxxxxxxx to XXXXX.

The petitioner further argues that XPS failed to implement a behavior intervention plan (BIP) or provide a one-on-one even though they knew that the student was having extraordinary behavioral problems due to XX disability.  When considering the student’s on-going behavioral problems and behavioral history, she argues that XPS did not need to wait for evaluations to implement a BIP or start the eligibility process for special education.  XPS could have used existing data to proceed with eligibility.
 
Respondent
The Respondent argues that XPS is willing and capable of educating the student.  They would welcome the student back with open arms and want the student to succeed.  They contend that XPS met its child find obligations and that there were no procedural or substantive violations of IDEA committed by XPS.  

XPS acknowledges that the student had behavioral problems but they believe that the student could succeed at XXXXX with the right supports in place.  Rather than to initially label the student as a student with a disability, XPS employed a tiered intervention system to address the student’s behavior issues.   Since the student was just entering school as a XXxxxxxxxxxxxx, they believed that interventions should be tried first, before referring the student to child study.  

XPS further argues that the interventions seemed to be working.  They claim that the student’s behavior seemed to improve the later part of September, through October, and the beginning of November.  When the student’s behavior worsened in November 2023, XPS proactively convened a school-based intervention team (SBIT) meeting for December 22, 2023, that developed goals and strategies for the student.  The team also referred the student to child study.  

XPS contends that the child study meeting was timely conducted on January 11, 2024, right after Christmas break.  At that time, the parent consented to initial evaluations, i.e. psychological, socio-cultural, speech language, vision and hearing screening, classroom observations, and teacher’s reports.   XPS argues that they did not receive written notification of the student’s ADHD diagnosis from the parent until March 12, 2024 during the disciplinary panel.  

XPS further argues that the team was prepared to move forward with the evaluations but the parent did not return the student to school after the disciplinary hearing conducted on March 12, 2024.  Despite efforts by XPS to schedule the evaluations, the parent would not make the student available.  Therefore, XPS argues that the parent impaired their ability to proceed with child study and child find by withholding the student and not responding to their communications.

XPS argues that it is permissible under the IDEA to employ interventions for a reasonable period to avoid over-identification and misidentification of students.  Moreover, they argue, that there can be no IDEA violation if there is a lack of parental participation and cooperation.  XPS is willing to proceed with the special education eligibility process for the student.

Witness Summaries
(The witnesses were sworn by the Court Reporter.)

Witnesses for the Petitioner
Day 1
XXXXXXXXXXXXXx (see transcript pages 40 – 121):  XXXXXXXXXXXXXx, hereafter referred to as “XXxxxxxxxx,” is the XXxxxxxxxxxx and an active caregiver for the student.  She is involved with the student’s education and has interacted with XPS personnel regarding the student’s education and behavior.

On direct examination, XXxxxxxxxx described the student as a happy, sassy, and smart little girl.  She testified that before school started, and at the beginning of school, she told the staff at XXXXX XXXXXXXX School (XXXXX) that the student had been diagnosed with ADHD and had behavioral issues.  The student was beginning XXXXxXXXXX.  She testified that no one from XXXXX reached out to her or her daughter (the student’s mother / petitioner) to discuss the student’s ADHD.

XXxxxxxxxx went to have lunch with the student and found XX eating alone.   She testified that the student was isolated at XXXXX and that XX sat in the cafeteria at a table by XXself because XX was a “bad” child.  She testified that when the student got home, she would ask XX why XX had to eat alone.  She stated that they later had a meeting with the principal and she believes that it was the principal who stopped the student from eating alone.  

She also testified that one of the cafeteria ladies, without knowing who she was, told XXxxxxxxxx that the student was a bad kid and further stated that she had one at home.  XXxxxxxxxx started coming to the school daily to eat lunch with the student until she was told by the assistant principal that she could not come anymore.  She could not remember how long she went to lunch at the school, but thought it was three or four weeks.  She testified that she was not provided with a reason as to why she had to stop going to lunch with the student.

XXxxxxxxxx testified that she was unaware of any interventions used with the student.  She stated that she repeatedly asked for the student to be transferred to another school.  She did not trust the personnel at XXXXX.  She also asked that the student be given a one-on-one to help XX through the school day.  She was concerned about the student’s safety at XXXXX.  She testified that the student had ADHD and that they were not doing anything to help.  All they did was suspend XX.  

XXxxxxxxxx testified that she would get calls from the school about every three weeks to come and get the student because XX had been suspended for XX behavior.  She testified that no one at XXXXX ever discussed ADHD with her and how it might manifest at school.  She testified that she never saw any data that was collected on the student while XX was at XXXXX.

The student attended XXXXX for about six months.  During that time, XXxxxxxxxx testified that the student was suspended about five times.  The suspensions were for one, two, or three days.  XXxxxxxxxx would ask why the student kept getting suspended.  With frustration, XXxxxxxxxx testified that she could not understand why they kept suspending a XXX year old.

With the last suspension, when they alleged that the student hit the teacher, XXxxxxxxxx testified that no one at the school ever asked the student what happened.  She stated that the student said it was an accident.  After the incident, the student indicated that XX thought XX was going to jail because the school security officer came to deal with XX.  She stated that the incident with security was traumatizing for the student.  The suspension was for ten days.

XXxxxxxxxx testified that no one from the school ever called them about the incident nor did they call to check on the student.  She testified that the incident was not properly documented.  She claims that she did not know exactly what happened until the in-school disciplinary hearing was conducted on March 12, 2024.    

XXxxxxxxxx testified that she does not trust XPS.  She even went to the school board for help where she spoke with a lady who told her she would check into the issue and call her back.  She never called her back.

XXxxxxxxxx testified that she and her daughter made the decision not to send the student back to XXXXX after the disciplinary hearing.  She asked why they would send XX back to a school where XX keeps getting put out.  She also testified that her daughter would get off work to go be with the student at XXXXX and they would not let her stay longer than 30 minutes.  

XXxxxxxxxx also testified that they asked for someone to come to their house to teach the student at home.  One lady came out two or three times since March.  She stated that their lives have been put on hold in an effort to help the student.  They don’t trust anyone to watch XX other than herself and her daughter because someone else may get tired of XX.  XX talks a lot and doesn’t sit down for long.  They don’t know what might happen if XX is under someone else’s care.  She believes that the student was mentally abused at XXXXX. She believes that the ADHD put a target on her xxxxxXXxxxxxxx’s back.

XXxxxxxxxx stated that even if they provided a one-on-one, she wants the student out of XXXXX.  She stated that she did not feel welcomed at the school.  She also believed that the principal and assistant principal were phony.  She did not like the fact that the principal recommended the student for expulsion.  She feels that the student’s teacher could not deal with the student and XX ADHD.  

At the disciplinary hearing, the witness testified that they did not receive a packet or anything else prior to the hearing.  XXxxxxxxxx testified that they never got anything in writing when the student was suspended but that everything was in the packet that was sent to the in-school disciplinary hearing officer.          

XXxxxxxxxx further testified that XPS did not listen to her during meetings; that she did not feel like an equal participant; they ignored her during the meetings; and that they shut-down the meeting because they didn’t like what the advocate was saying.  

On cross examination, XXxxxxxxxx testified that she initially had a good relationship with XXXXX personnel until they started suspending the student from school.  She stated that the school would call her daughter at work to come pick up the student.  Her daughter would then call her to go get XX.  She testified that the student had a therapeutic day counselor (TDT) from XXXXXXXXXX Behavioral Health, XXxxxxx, that came into the school sometimes.  She was not aware of all the services that they provided.  She knew that they would pick XX up after school and take XX to various activities.  When questioned about her contact with the superintendent’s office, XXxxxxxxxx remembered speaking to a Renesha Parks from the superintendent’s office.

    XXxxxxxxxx recalled a color system used by Ms. XXxxxxx, the student’s teacher.  She said that the system was for normal students and not students like her XXxxxXXxxxxxxx.  She did not like the system because her XXxxxXXxxxxxxx could not get the good colors.

She recalled a meeting where the team set three goals for the student.  The first goal involved the student checking-in and checking-out in the morning and afternoon with trusted staff.  XXxxxxxxxx thought that was a good goal but was skeptical that it ever happened.  The second goal involved incentives.  The student would be given stickers, coloring sheets, or sugar-free fruit snacks to motivate XX.  The third was to give XX breaks throughout the day at school.  XXxxxxxxxx remembered the discussion but did not know whether any of the goals were ever implemented.  

When questioned about evaluations, XXxxxxxxxx remembered that XPS staff explained the purpose of a psychological evaluation but could not remember about other types of evaluations.  When asked whether she was able to ask questions and speak at the meetings, XXxxxxxxxx testified that she could and that she kept asking for a one-on-one.   XXxxxxxxxx explained the importance of a one-on-one for the student.  She described an occasion when the student went upstairs at the school to see XX XXxxx and nobody even knew.  She said that a one-on-one would have stopped that.  At that point, she became concerned about the student’s safety.  She explained that a one-on-one could have prevented that from happening, and, the one-on-one would have been there if the student started to escalate.

XXxxxxxxxx testified that she was never asked by the school for any documents related to the student’s ADHD diagnosis.  She stated that they told the school but did not know they had to give them anything in writing.

On re-direct examination, XXxxxxxxxx testified that there was no review of existing data prior to XPS asking for evaluations.  

The witness was credible.

XXXXXXXXXXXXXx (see transcript pages 122 - 159):  XPS objected to the witness testifying.  The Hearing Officer overruled the objection and agreed to hear her testimony.  The objection was noted for the record.

Ms. XXxxxxxxx is a community outreach professional. On direct examination, the witness described her training in meaningful IEP development.  She is a member of an organization called the XXxxxxxxxxxx which advocates for children with disabilities.  She testified that she has assisted between 25 and 30 families with the special education process, and 12 to 15 families with the private placement process.  She has also reached between 80 and 90 families through social media.  

Ms. XXxxxxxxx testified that she has had about five contacts with the student’s family.  She spoke with the student’s family about the emotional toll of due process procedures.  She serves as a buffer person for the family to vent their frustrations. The witness testified that she has lived through what the student’s family is going through.  She offered the family encouragement, advice and counsel on how to navigate the process.

The witness testified that the parent in this case felt that her voice had not been heard by XPS.  She stated that such a complaint is common among parents in her situation.  She advised the parent to keep data about the evaluation process.  She discussed the private placement option.  She discussed TDT services.  She discussed procedural safeguards for children going through the Child Find and eligibility process.

On cross-examination, Ms. XXxxxxxxx again discussed her training.  She testified that the student should not have been suspended from school.  She had not reviewed the student’s suspension record.  

The witness was credible.

XXXXXXXXXXXXX (see transcript pages 160 - 275):  Ms. XXxxxx is mother of the student (hereafter referred to as petitioner, parent, or “Mom”)  Mom stated that the student was special to her because XX is hers.  At the time XX began attending XXxxxx, XX was XXX years old.  

She described the student as a child that liked to talk and play.  She said that she believes that once she told XPS that her XXxxxxxxx had ADHD, things began to backlash.  The school personnel did not get to know her child.  She kept telling them that she wanted a one-on-one for the student and they kept telling her that it was a process.  They were quick to put XX out of school for XX behavior.  

Mom stated that she offered to sit in class with her child on her days off.  She was told by the school secretary that she could do that, but told upon arrival that she could only stay for 30 minutes.  She thought that sitting with the child during school was better than XX being put out of school so often.  She testified that her XXxxxxxxx needs more attention because of XX ADHD, and that although XX teacher, Ms. XXxxxxx, thought she could provide it, she could not.  

Mom described the day she was allowed to sit with her XXxxxxxxx.  She testified that her child had been placed in the back of the class by XXself at a desk that had tape and empty chairs around it.  The teacher and other students were in the front of the class and the teacher was teaching using a projector.  They had her XXxxxxxxx isolated.  That is where her child sat every day in a “bubble.”  The student did not like it and was unhappy about being isolated.  XX wanted to interact with the other students.

Mom discussed the situation with an assistant principal, who told her that they were going to try the “bubble” for a while with the student to see if it helped.  Mom testified that she did not know anything about her child being isolated until she went to XX school.  No one from the school had told her nor had they sent her anything in writing.  She testified that they mentioned it one time in a meeting but that was after the bubble started.

She discussed the student’s suspensions.  She testified that the student was suspended almost every other week for one to three days each suspension.  She was unaware of any in-school suspensions.  

Mom then went on the discussed the student’s daycare experiences.  The student was suspended from two daycares prior to going to XXXXX.  XX did not graduate because of XX behavior.  When she explained what happened with the student at daycare to XPS, they did not discuss it further.  Mom kept asking for a one-on-one.  XPS kept telling her that there was a process but they never got to step one.  

Mom testified that the student went upstairs twice by XXself to visit XX XXxxx, who was also a student at XXXXX.  After the first time, she discussed it with school personnel and they assured her it would not happen again, but it did.  Again, she asked for a one-on-one.  No safety plan was put in place.  At that point, she did not feel that her XXxxxxxxx was safe at the school.  She kept asking for a one-on-one.

Mom testified that her XXxxxxxxx’s experiences at XXXXX made her child sad.  The student is now in counseling with a psychiatrist.  The school did not provide any references for counseling or social work services for her child.  She had to get the services herself.  

She also enrolled her XXxxxxxxx in TDT services after she spoke with someone at the school open house.  The services were supposed to help students focus and talk about their feelings.  The service started about a month after school started because she had to wait for Medicaid approval.  TDT services were after school, not during the school day.  However, a lady, Ms. XXxxxxxxxxx, would come sometimes for an hour or two, two times a week, to help keep her XXxxxxxxx still.  That was the closet they got to a one-on-one.  Ms. XXxxxxxxxxx could not stay all day because she had other schools to visit.

Mom testified that nothing changed with her XXxxxxxxx after XX suspensions.  XX would return to the same behaviors.  She stated that she was called by the school two or three times every week about her XXxxxxxxx’s behavior.  She testified that no one reached out to her after the student was suspended for 10 days.  No one ever went over the student’s educational or behavioral records with her.  She wants private placement for her XXxxxxxxx. 

Mom discussed home-based services.  She testified that Ms. XXxxx came for about three days.  Services were supposed to start July 19th and go until school started.  Ms. XXxxx started on July 20th.  Ms. XXxxx cut her hours because she thought that the student was unable to focus.  She was also scheduled to go on vacation.  After vacation, she wanted to conduct home-based services from 5:00 PM to 6:30 PM.  Mom rejected those services because they were too late in the evening for a XXX year old.

Mom testified that she wants her child to be privately placed.  Her XXxxxxxxx has already been kicked out of two daycares and XXXXX, all public schools.  She does not believe her child can learn through public schools.

Mom testified that XPS explained the need for evaluations to her during a meeting.  The student had already been suspended at that time.  XPS offered to conduct the evaluations at a library but she did not respond because the student had already been put out of school.  Following the disciplinary hearing in March of 2024, she and her mother (XXxxxxxxxx) had already decided that her child was not going back to XXXXX.

She explained that she believed her child would be expelled if XX returned to XXXXX so she kept XX home to protect XX from expulsion.  She knew that the student would continue with XX behaviors and be expelled.  When asked whether the student could do better at another XPS school with a one-on-one, she sated maybe.

Mom explained what she was told happened to prompt the disciplinary panel and her XXxxxxxxx’s last suspension for ten days.  She said that she was told that her XXxxxxxxx hit XX teacher on the right hip with XX closed fist, “using force,” causing the teacher to go to the emergency room, returning to work on the next day.  She strongly doubted that XX XXX year old child had the strength to use enough force to cause such an injury to the teacher.   After the incident, the student was suspended and could return to school until March 13th.  The disciplinary document stated that any other serious infractions could result in the student be assigned to an alternative school.

Mom testified that the principal recommended to the disciplinary panel that the student be expelled.  The in-school disciplinary hearing officer denied the request for expulsion with the caveat of alternative school if there were other disciplinary infractions.  In Mom’s mind, that meant that her child could be expelled if XX returned to XXXXX and got in trouble again.  She was not going to return her XXxxxxxxx to that environment.  She said that the principal never reached out to her to explain anything regarding the situation.  

Mom explained what happened at the disciplinary hearing.  She, her XXxxx, and mother were there at the meeting.  Mom’s advocate, Kandise Lucas, was on the phone.  She was provided a packet once the advocate requested that the parent be provided with the same information that the panel members had.  The only thing she understood was the attendance record.  However, she testified that the attendance record did not accurately reflect the suspensions.  When the advocate requested a review of existing data, XPS said they would send it but Mom says she never got it.

 Mom testified that everything they proposed after the student was suspended for 10 days could have been done at the beginning of school.  She complained that her child received no education from February 28 to July 2024.  No remediation, social skills training, or anything else was offered to XX during that period.  No one from the school contacted her to check on the student.  

Mom said that she has yet to see all of the disciplinary referrals.  She claims that they could have found XX eligible for special education services based on XX ADHD and behaviors alone.  Mom testified that she did not give XPS the ADHD diagnosis paperwork because XPS did not ask for it.  Mom testified that she did not have the paperwork right then and there (at open house) and that her telling them should have been enough.  When pressed by the Hearing Officer as to why Mom did not later provide the paperwork to XPS, the advocate inserted herself stating that it would not have mattered because XPS would have still made them “jump through hoops” anyway.

Mom was then asked about the April 18th eligibility summary. While going through the eligibility summary, Mom was asked whether she received any of the documentation mentioned on the eligibility list.  Mom said she had not.  She said she had not been educated on the evaluation process by XPS.  She did not understand how her child could be deemed ineligible for special education services as determined by the eligibility team.  She claimed to have never been advised that she could write a descent disagreeing with the eligibility determination.  

Mom was asked about a manifestation determination review (MDR) conducted on March 1, 2024.  Mom testified that the MDR meeting was held without her.  Mom also claimed that she was unaware that an other health impaired (OHI) checklist had been reviewed by XPS.  The form stated that the student was being referred for special education services because of six behavioral referrals and three suspensions this school year.  Mom thinks that the student’s behaviors are directly related to XX ADHD.  

Mom testified that she did not know what a functional behavioral assessment was and that no one at XPS had explained it to her.  She was not offered an option for independent educational evaluations.  

She stated that she was at some point offered a 504 Plan for the student.  She discussed an incident involving another student.  In that incident the student was walking in line, took out papers from another student’s book bag, and when the student was picking up the papers, it was reported that her child kicked the other student very hard.  She discussed another incident that occurred on December 14, 2023 where it was reported that the student was running around the cafeteria, giving the middle finger, hitting, punching, and spitting on other students while they were eating.  It was also reported that the student hit another student in the back of the neck.   Mom contended that all of that could have stopped if the student had been assigned a one-on-one.  They suspended the student for one day but did nothing else to help her child.

In another incident on January 16, 2024, the student was suspended for hitting another student in the eye.  She testified that no tier interventions were offered.  Another incident occurred on February 16, 2024.  The student was accused of hitting a student in the shoulder and punching her.  The student was suspended.   In yet another incident on February 21, 2024, the student shoved another student causing him to hit his side on a cafeteria bench, and cursing at the student.  She also stated that there was only one person watching the children in the cafeteria.  The teachers do not accompany the children to the cafeteria.

The incident involving the student hitting XX teacher on February 28, 2024 was also discussed.  Apparently the student was throwing items from XX desk all over the floor.  The teacher asked XX to pick them up and put them back.  The student would not, so the teacher put them up.  When the teacher told XX she was going to contact XX Mom, the student hit the teacher on the right hip and said, “that’s what you get.”

Mom testified that XPS had a letter from XXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXX terminating services to the student because of XX behavior.  The letter stated that they terminated services for the health and safety of XXself, other children, and the staff.  Mom testified that the letter should have put XPS on notice that her child had behavior problems.  She said that XPS did nothing about it.

On cross examination, Mom testified that she communicated with the student’s teacher, Ms. XXxxxxx, almost daily using the school’s Remind app.  The teacher would also call sometimes, but mostly they used the app.  She would report about the student’s day, good days and bad days.  Mom reviewed the communications between herself and the teacher.  She stated that she initially had a good relationship with the teacher, and that the teacher would listen to her suggestions about the student.    
 
Mom acknowledged that she knew that the student could return to school on March 13, 2024.  She acknowledged receiving two email messages from Dr. XXXX, the instructional compliance coordinator, dated March 28, 2024 and April 16, 2024, asking if Mom was willing to have the student evaluated at a mutually agreeable location (like the library).  The letter stated that the student needed socio-cultural, speech, and psychological evaluations.  Mom admitted that she did not respond to the messages.

Although she initially testified that she was not at the MDR meeting, Mom remembered on cross-examination to being on the phone for the meeting.  

On direct examination, Mom testified that the attendance records were incorrect because the suspensions were not accurately reflected.  However, on cross-examination, once the codes were explained,  she accepted the meanings, i.e.  “A” meaning absent; “E” meaning excused; and “OS” meaning out of school suspension.

Mom acknowledged that home-based services were offered during the resolution session, after the due process had been filed.  She discussed the Student-Based Intervention Team (SBIT) meeting conducted on December 22, 2023.  At that meeting, Mom acknowledged that Dr. XXXXx, assistant principal, explained the child study process to her.  Mom acknowledged that at a meeting in January 2024, the child study team discussed the different types of evaluations needed for the student.  At that time, Mom signed consent for the evaluations.  

Mom testified that she was the one to set up TDT services.  She again stated that Ms. XXxxxxxxxxx, from TDT, was the person mostly dealing with the student.  She testified that the student was on medication for XX ADHD but that they were in the process of adjusting dosage.

On redirect examination, Mom testified that she did not see the Remind app notes reviewed during the MDR meeting.  Mom also stated that XPS has not explained why they have not completed the other health impairment (OHI) checklist.  

When revisiting the messages from Dr. XXXX requesting evaluations, Mom testified that, although she did not respond, Dr. Lucas, her advocate, responded on her behalf.  In her response, Dr. Lucas asked for a review of existing data.  Dr. XXXX did not respond to her message.

Mom explained that her child felt bad being isolated from XX friend, and the fact that XX would get a red color (the worst) instead of pink (highest) like the other kids.  

The witness was credible.

Witnesses for the Respondent
Day 2
XXXXxXX. XXXX (see transcript pages 310 – 425) (XPS Ex. 12): Dr. XXXX currently serves as assistant principal, XXXXxXXX XXXXXXXX School, XPS.  Dr. XXXX qualified as an expert in XXXXXXXX school special education.  During the 2023 – 2024 school year, she was employed by XPS at XXXXX XXXXXXXX School as the instructional compliance coordinator (ICC).  She worked at XXXXX for four years.  As ICC, she was in charge of eligibility, child find meetings, and insuring that the school was in compliance and up-to-date with special education students. 

On direct examination, Dr. XXXX testified that XXXXX XXXXXXXX School had about 425 students.  She interacted with the student’s family while she was at XXXXX.  She supervised lunch so she interacted with the student during lunch.  She said that the student would often tell her how XX day was going.  On a good day, the student would be sitting with XX friends eating lunch.  On a bad day the student would be at a table by XXself, usually crying.  

Dr. XXXX testified that she thought the student’s teacher, XXXXXX XXxxxxx, was one of the best XXXXxXXXXX teachers she has seen.  She explained that Ms. XXxxxxx is structured, has established procedures and routines, and is strict with timing.  She explained the tier intervention system used at XXXXX.  Dr. XXXXx, assistant principal was in charge of the SBIT, the system used to set the interventions.  She explained that the SBIT team is convened if a student is placed in Tier 3.  The team would set goals and put accommodations / interventions in place for the student.  The SBIT team can also refer the student to child find.  She testified that tiered interventions are used to get students acclimated to school.  It often takes XXxxxxxxxxxxxxs longer to become acclimated to school.

The witness testified that the student was in the child find system.  She explained that on December 22, 2023, right before the Christmas break, there was a meeting with the family, Ms. XXxxxxx, SBIT team, and case managers where they discussed goals, how the student was doing in the classroom, and the student’s overall status.  They determined that the student was not making as much progress as they would like so they referred XX to the child find team.

The child study team met in January, after Christmas break.  The team requested evaluations and Mom consented.  About three weeks later an incident occurred with the student hitting the teacher and the student was suspended. She testified that the evaluations had not yet occurred because they were testing a huge amount of students at once.  Dr. XXXX testified that they have 65 days to complete testing but that they like to perform the evaluations within a 45-day window.   The suspension occurred within the 45-day window so they still had about 20 days to complete the evaluations.  

Dr. XXXX testified that she reached out to Mom via email on March 28, 2024 and again on April 16, 2024 offering to conduct the evaluations at the library.  She first called Mom but Mom said everything needed to be in email, since her advocate, Dr. Lucas, was not on the phone.  Mom did not respond to the emails.  Dr. XXXX testified that Dr. Lucas did not respond to the emails.  

Dr. XXXX reviewed the notes from the meeting and confirmed that both Mom and XXxxxxxxxx were at the meeting.  The meeting notes, although unsigned, were drafted by Ms. XXXXx, assistant principal.  The notes indicated that the student was placed between Tier 2 and Tier 3 of the intervention scale, meaning that the student would be considered a “bubble” kid.  At the end of the meeting, the student was referred to the child study team.  She explained the process to the family.

The child study meeting occurred in January 2024.  At that time, no evaluations had been conducted.   Dr. XXXX testified that it is dangerous to send a student to the initial eligibility team without evaluations.  The team needs to get a whole picture of the student (especially a XXXXxXXXXX student) before giving them the special education label.  She testified that without the evaluations, she did not believe there was sufficient existing data to move forward with eligibility.

Dr. XXXX discussed the over-identification of minority students as special education students.  She explained that the tiered intervention system is supposed to help with that issue.

Dr. XXXX confirmed that the incident with Ms. XXxxxxx occurred on February 28, 2024.  A manifestation determination review (MDR) was conducted on March 1, 2024.  At the time, the student was already in the eligibility process.  They suspected that the student had an OHI disability with a specific diagnosis of ADHD.  The MDR team determined that the student’s action of hitting Ms. XXxxxxx was not a manifestation of XX disability.  At the time of the MDR, she testified that Mom agreed with the findings of the MDR team.  

Dr. XXXX explained that the MDR team did not think the student’s actions were a result of XX being hyperactive or impulsive, which are characteristic of ADHD, but was done in retaliation because XX was not getting XX way and because the teacher told the student she was going to contact XX mother.  The team also wanted a functional behavior assessment to be conducted concurrently with the eligibility testing.   The evaluations would have been conducted when the student returned to school from suspension (that should have been March 13, 2024).  The MDR team did not discuss whether the student should be found eligible for special education services.

Dr. XXXX testified that with appropriate interventions, the student could be educated at XXXXX.  She stated that with structure, routine, procedures, and a good teacher, the student could continue to be educated at XXXXX.  Those interventions would be discussed during the eligibility process, and ultimately during the IEP process.

On cross examination, Dr. XXXX testified that she told the principal, Ms. XXXXXXXXXXXXX, that the student was suspected of having a disability prior to the student’s suspension.  She testified that there was no suspicion of disability prior to that.  She stated that although Mom told them that the student had ADHD at the beginning of the school year, Mom never provided documentation.  The witness testified that she asked Mom for documentation in December 2023 and again in January 2024.  

The witness again testified as to why the MDR team thought the child retaliated when XX hit Ms. XXxxxxx, and why they did not find the student’s behavior to be a manifestation of XX disability.  Dr. XXXX said that the team did not conduct a review of existing data.  She stated that the student’s disciplinary record was reviewed but they did not have a pattern analysis to review for the MDR.  

Dr. XXXX testified that when a child is repeatedly suspended, the child may feel:  unwelcomed, unwanted, abandoned, and cause them to not get accustomed to classroom life.  She admitted that no one addressed the possible social/emotional impact on the student when XX was suspended six times.  Dr. XXXX did not know why there was no behavioral data on the student, other than the teacher’s notes, between September 2023 and February 2024.  

The witness stated that Mom and XXxxxxxxxx asked for a one-on-one at the meeting she attended in December.  Dr. XXXX told them that there was a process that needed to be followed.  She stated again that she was not a part of the suspension process, that process involved administration.  

Dr. XXXX testified that as a Tier 3 intervention to try to interrupt the suspension, the student had case managers coming in and out of XX classroom.  They also ate lunch with XX.  The student also had a TDT through XXxxxxx.  The witness was unaware that the student had twice eloped to see XX XXxxx upstairs at the school.  

The witness testified that XPS did not receive the student’s ADHD diagnosis from Mom until the disciplinary panel meeting conducted on March 12, 2024.  The witness was questioned extensively about the MDR conducted on March 1, 2024 and their findings that the student’s actions, leading to suspension, were not a manifestation of XX disability.  She acknowledged that neither a school psychologist nor social worker was on the MDR team.  

On redirect examination, Dr. XXXX testified that she used her experience as a teacher and ICC about how students with ADHD behave when she made her decision as a member of the MDR team.  She testified that at the time of the MDR, there was no existing data to review.  She testified that services from TDT could be considered as a Tier 3 intervention.  

She testified that students normally receive vision and hearing testing when they get to school.  They wanted to conduct other evaluations on the student such as socio-cultural and psychological.  

On re-cross examination, the witness testified that functional behavior assessments are generally conducted in the student’s school environment.  She acknowledged that a home-based instructor could gather data regarding the student.

The witness was credible.  

XXXXXXXXXXXXXXx (see transcript pages 428 – 633)(XPS Ex. 14):  Dr. XXXXx-Xxxx or Dr. XXXXx was an assistant principal, XXXXX XXXXXXXX School, XPS.  She is now serving at another school.  She qualified as an expert in education.  

Dr. XXXXx-XXXXX testified that she met with XXxxxxxxxx at the beginning of school year 2023-2024.  At that time, XXxxxxxxxx asked if she could come eat lunch with the student on a daily basis.  The administrative team allowed it for the week that she asked but did not think it a good idea for her to eat daily lunch with the student for an indefinite period.  As an administrative team, they thought it best for the student to get accustomed to school without a family member there every day.  They wanted to see if the student would adjust to school on XX own.

The witness testified about the decision to give the student preferential classroom seating in an attempt to curb XX physically aggressive behaviors.  Sometimes XX would be seated right beside the teacher, other times close to the board and sometimes in a taped-off area.  At the SBIT meeting, the parent was on board with giving the student preferential seating in a taped-off area of the classroom so XX could have XX own space.  When she visited the classroom, she asked the student how XX felt about XX own area.  She told the student that XX could stand when XX wanted but XX had to keep XX hands to XXself and be safe.

 Dr. XXXXx-XXXXX testified that she saw improvement in the student’s behavior in September and October.  She stated that XX physically aggressive behaviors were not as frequent or severe.  Also during that time, Ms. XXXXXX XXxxxxxxxxx, TDT support, was very hands-on with the student and sometimes sat with XX during lunch.  During those times, the student’s behaviors were nowhere near as frequent.  She testified that for the most part, that intervention seemed to work, but Ms. XXxxxxxxxxx could not come every day because she had other obligations. She would come two or three times a week and stay a few hours. 

Dr. XXXXx-XXXXX testified that she and other XPS staff asked Mom for the ADHD diagnosis as soon as Mom told them about the diagnosis.  They did not receive it until the disciplinary panel met on March 12, 2024.  When the Hearing Officer asked about the date of the diagnosis, the advocate injected that the diagnosis was dated November 17, 2022 from a clinic at XXXXXXXXX Center.

Dr. XXXXx-XXXXX explained that she worked closely with the student’s teacher, Ms. XXxxxxx, and with the TDT worker, Ms. XXxxxxxxxxx.  The witness explained that she was in charge of the school-based intervention team (SBIT).  She would ask the teacher to collect data and to try different strategies in class to help the student. 

She acknowledged that she was aware that the student had been removed from daycares twice before entering XXXXxXXXXX.  She emphasized that she did not receive anything in writing to substantiate that claim.  She testified that the student was not referred to child study until December because the student was just in XXXXxXXXXX and because they did not want to push XX into special education without first trying different strategies.  She claims that they there were times that they saw improvements in the student’s behavior while using interventions.  

When asked whether she thought the student needed a one-on-one, the witness stated that sometimes yes and other times no.  If there had not been any improvement along the way, they would have referred XX to child study earlier.  XX behavior was up and down.  She testified that she would routinely check in with Ms. XXxxxxx to see how the student was doing on any given day.

In anticipation of the student returning to school on March 13, 2024, the witness testified that she alerted the school counselor and the behavior specialist to put the student on their radar.  We also met with Mom to find out whether she thought a classroom change would be appropriate.  The student, however, did not return to school.

When the student did not return to school after the disciplinary panel, they called but the Mom said she could not talk because her advocate, Dr. Lucas, was not on the call.  She informed XPS during that call that the student would not be returning to school.  She also instructed XPS to send communications through email.  After that, they reached out to Mom via email to try to get the evaluations scheduled but Mom was nonresponsive.  

Dr. XXXXx-XXXXX testified that she was the administrator for the disciplinary panel.  She denied ever wanting the student to be expelled from school.  She also stated that there was an email message sent to Mom referencing the student possibly being given a 504 Plan while continuing through the eligibility process for special education.   She stated that the school counselor also reached out to Mom to discuss other possible resources such as XXXXXXXXXX, The XXXXXXXXXX Behavioral Health Authority, TDT, and other resources, but did not receive a response from Mom.    

On cross-examination, the witness testified that TDT services are not a tiered intervention but that their services can work hand-in-hand with XPS.  Dr. XXXXx-XXXXX denied that the school was relying on TDT services to provide a free appropriate public education (FAPE) for the student.

The witness testified that the student was not suspended a lot.  She said that there were instances when the student hit but XX was not suspended.  She could not remember how many times the student had been suspended.  She stated that the SBIT met with the student and they would do social stories, videos, and modeling behaviors of how to have safe hands.  The student would also be given stickers and healthy snacks.  She would check in with the student frequently to see how XX day was going.

The witness testified that although they worked closely with TDT, she was unaware that TDT had identified the student with ADHD as well as oppositional defiance disorder (ODD) on August 7, 2023.  She was aware that TDT was working on social, self-regulating, and coping skills with the student.  She acknowledged that the team did not request the student’s records from TDT nor did they request consent to review the TDT file on the student.  She testified that she was not made aware that the student was on ADHD medication until around December 2023 at the SBIT meeting.

The witness stated that the student’s first suspension was in December 2023 for hitting.  She testified that there were previous instances of the student hitting for which XX was not suspended.  She stated that there were a plethora of different things they tried prior to suspension.

The witness testified that Ms. XXXXXXXXXXx was a member of the student’s team who worked with XBHA.  However, XPS did not ask Ms. XXXXX for any information on the student since they were already working with XXxxxxx.  She stated that Ms. XXXXX mentioned in January of 2024 at the child find meeting that the student was taking medication for ADHD.  Dr. XXXXx-XXXXX testified that it was her responsibility to insure that the team reviewed all existing data for the child find meeting.

Dr. XXXXx-XXXXX testified that they did not implement a behavioral intervention plan (BIP) although the student had a history of hitting peers and staff.  They were trying school-based interventions and incentives.  It seemed the student’s aggressive behavior of hitting escalated from peers to XX teacher.  She mentioned that the student had hit XX teacher once before but no disciplinary panel was convened.  No safety plan was put in place.  She admitted that a BIP might have been appropriate.  As a Tier 3 intervention, the witness testified that they referred the student to XXXXXXXXXXXXX who is the school’s student intervention liaison.

The witness could not recall the policy that stopped the XXxxxxxxxx from eating daily with the student for lunch.  The witness did not know how many days the student was isolated at lunch (silent lunch).  However, the witness testified that once XXxxxxxxxx brought that to their attention, they stopped the student from eating alone in the cafeteria.

When asked about the student’s seating in a taped-off area of the classroom, Dr. XXXXx-XXXXX said that the family agreed to that intervention.  She explained that the school had a care and safety associate, not a security guard.  She was unaware that the student thought XX was going to “jail” when the associate came to get XX after hitting the teacher.

When asked whether she called to check on the student while XX has been out of school, the witness testified that she has been on maternity leave and was not allowed to call while in that status.  She only recently returned to work from maternity leave.  

Dr. XXXXx-XXXXX stated that they were prepared to meet with the family to discuss interventions and strategies for the student when the student returned to school on March 13th, however, the student did not return to school.  It was noted that the disciplinary panel hearing officer, Dr. XXXXXX, suggested that the student sign a behavior contract tailored to XX needs.  

The witness acknowledged that the student had a history of physical aggression, i.e. striking both peers and staff.  She also acknowledged that they did not consider a behavior intervention plan for the student because they were using SBIT goals and strategies.  The witness could not recall whether there was a review of existing data on the student by the team.

When asked about safety measures put in place for the student after XX twice eloped upstairs to see XX XXxxx, Dr. XXXXx-XXXXX stated that there was no safety plan put in place because that was not the biggest concern about the student.  Their biggest concern was the student’s physical aggression.

Dr. XXXXx-XXXXX stated that the team did not consider the student having been removed from two daycares because of aggressive behavior because they did not have documentation to substantiate the removals.  When pressed, she admitted that documentation was not required from the parent to consider the removals.

The witness testified that at no point did either the Mom or XXxxxxxxxx communicate to her that they felt they were not being heard.  She stated that she called Mom once before she went on maternity leave to find out when the student was going to return to school.  Mom shut her down stating that the student was not coming back to school.

When asked about a one-on-one, Dr. XXXXx-XXXXX testified that she does not have the authority to hire a one-on-one.  She can only make the recommendation.  She also testified that she did not consider a one-on-one because they tried other strategies first.  She acknowledged that the student had been suspended five or six times.  She also indicated that if an IEP team determines that a student requires a one-on-one, then XPS is legally obligated to implement the IEP. 

The witness explained a behavior contract and its intended purpose as recommended by the disciplinary panel.  She stated that a behavior contract might have worked for the student.  It was something that had not yet been tried.  It also represented another way to hold students accountable.

The witness discussed portions of the eligibility summary and although several of the blocks were checked as having attachments, most of the attachments containing student data were not attached.  For example, the following documents were not attached:  strategies used to access the student’s learning; parent’s right to request an evaluation; and observation options.  When asked where it was documented when school officials called Mom to come pick up the student due to XX behavior, the witness stated that it should have been annotated in Aspen.  (Note:  records unavailable for the hearing)  The witness stated that no functional behavior assessment was conducted on the student.
 
On redirect examination, Dr. XXXXx-XXXXX testified that data can take many forms.  Data can include conversations with the teacher, conversations with the student, and experiences with the student.  After a review of the student’s existing data, the team determined that evaluations were required to find the student eligible for special education services.  

She testified that parental contacts are included in Aspen.  If it is not documented in Aspen it probably did not occur.  In her personal opinion, she believes the student has empathy.  

On re-cross, the witness testified about how she created goals for the student.  She also discussed how she communicated data to the family.  

The witness was credible.

XXXXXXXXXX (see transcript pages 633 – 657):  Dr. XXXXXX currently serves as the Director of Exceptional Education for XPS.  She sat in as the XPS representative during the hearing.

On direct examination, Dr. XXXXXX testified that she provided all of the student’s records to the parent when her advocate asked for them.  She provided those records that were given to her from the school, including records from IEP on line and Virginia IEP.  

She testified that as a part of the child find process, the review of existing data is a necessary component under the Virginia IEP system that must be completed before the process can move forward.  She explained that although the box was not checked on the sheet, from the testimony of Dr. XXXX and Dr. XXXXx-XXXXX, it appeared that they did in fact review the existing data they had at the moment, to include observation data. 

On cross-examination, Dr. XXXXXX testified that she was not a part of the eligibility meeting and did not know what they reviewed.  She has not been to any meetings involving the student. She testified that the OHI checklist that the advocate discussed was not a team effort but was drafted by the advocate and/or parent.  The team could consider the information but it would not be determinative.  She stated that she had not met the student and has not personally called the family.  She testified that she arranged the home-based services following the resolution session.

The witness was credible. 

Factual Synopsis / Findings of Fact
At the age of XXX years, XXXXXXXXXXXx, the student, started XXXXxXXXXX on August XX, 202X at XXXXX XXXXXXXX School (XXXXX), XPS.  From the start, the student exhibited behavioral problems.  At the beginning of school, the mother told XXXXX staff that her XXxxxxxxx had been diagnosed with ADHD, but failed to provide written documentation of the diagnosis.  The mother also revealed to XXXXX staff that the student had been removed from two daycares as a result of XX behavioral issues and physical aggression before entering XXXXX as a XXxxxxxxxxxxxx.  (Pet. Ex. 61)  The student was prescribed medication for ADHD but XXXXX staff was unaware until December or January.  From start of school, the student had been receiving after-school services from XXxxxxx Behavioral Services (XXxxxxx) to help with XX behavior.  These services were arranged by the mother.    

Lengthy records from XXxxxxx reveal that the student showed signs of having both ADHD and oppositional defiant disorder (ODD).  XXxxxxx’s records indicate that the student had a history of kicking others, hitting others, throwing items, using profanity, distracting the class, and walking around the classroom when XX became angry.  Their records further indicate that the student requires additional services to be successful in school.  (XXxxxxx Records)

A review of the student’s behavior record, as maintained by XX teacher, Ms. XXXXXXX XXxxxxx, (XPS Ex. 9), shows that the student continued to have behavioral problems while attending XXXXX.  The behavioral record for September cited the student for spitting, yelling and screaming, pushing, kicking, and hitting other students, and making one child bleed using XX fingernail.  October was better but the student was still cited for hitting back and forth, and cursing.  In November, the student was cited almost daily for unacceptable physically aggressive behavior.  XX unacceptable behaviors included:  not following directions, ripping paper, getting out of XX seat without authorization, talking back to the teacher, rolling XX eyes, hitting, spitting, yelling, touching others, refusing to listen, and falling out in the hallway.   

A review of the entries from the teacher to the mother on the Remind app or chat log also indicated that the student continued to have behavior problems.  (XPS Ex. 10)  The teacher wrote to the mother almost daily to report the student’s activities during the day.  The communications ran from September 12, 2023 to February 27, 2024 and included numerous instances of unacceptable behavior by the student.  

To address the student’s behavior, XPS put several interventions in place.  A color system was used as an incentive for the student to get the color pink for good behavior.  Under this system, different colors meant different things with pink being the highest or best to get for the day, and with red being the worst.  The student’s behavior often merited the red. 

The student’s attendance history (XPS Ex. 11) shows that due to XX behaviors, the student was suspended for one day on December 14, 2023, January 28, 2024, February 21, 2024, and for 10 days on February 29, 2024.

XPS also sat the student by XXself in the back of the classroom with tape around XX desk.  The tape represented the confines within which the student needed to stay.  For a while, the student ate in the cafeteria alone so XX could not strike or otherwise disturb other students.  XPS attempted Tier 1, 2, and 3 interventions.
    
Although the student’s behavioral problems seemed to temper during the month of October 2023, they escalated in November 2023, despite interventions.  In response to the escalation, the School-Based Intervention Team (SBIT) met on December 22, 2023 where they referred the student to child study.  Both the mother and XXxxxxxxxxxx were present at the meeting.  (XPS Exs. 1 and 2)

On January 11, 2024, a meeting was held to review the referral and establish what data was needed.  At the meeting, the mother consented to a full initial evaluation of the student.  (XPS Ex. 2)

On February 28, 2024, prior to completion of the evaluations, the student hit the teacher on her hip with a closed fist.  The student received a ten-day out-of-school suspension, pending a disciplinary hearing before Dr. XXXXX XXXXXX, an internal XPS Hearing Officer.  The disciplinary hearing was conducted on March 12, 2024 and the decision was to return the student to XXXXX the next day, March 13, 2024.  In her decision, Dr. XXXXXX also warned that if there were other serious infractions committed by the student, XX could be reassigned to another school.  (XPS Ex. 5)  The mother interpreted this to mean that the student could be expelled for just being XXself and she did not return the student to school.  For the first time, the mother produced documentation during the disciplinary hearing of the student’s ADHD diagnosis.  

On March 1, 2024, a manifestation determination review (MDR) was conducted to address the February 28, 2024 incident.  The mother participated by phone.  The team determined that the student’s behavior was not a manifestation of XX disability.  (XPS Ex. 6)

On March 28, 2024, two weeks after the student had not returned to school, Dr. XXXXXXXXXx called the mother to inquire why the student had not returned to school and to schedule the student’s evaluations.  The mother told Dr. XXXX to communicate with her via email since her advocate was not on the call.  Dr. XXXX emailed the mother but did not receive a response.  She sent a follow-up message on April 16, 2024 but neither the mother nor her advocate responded.  However, on March 25, 2024, the advocate, Dr. Lucas, sent a message advising that the student would not be returning to XXXXX for instruction or evaluations.

The student has not returned to XXXXX since February 28, 2024.  The student received a few days of instruction at home, the result of a resolution session, but instruction was discontinued due to scheduling issues with the teacher.  The student has received three days a week of home-based instruction since entry of the Hearing Officer’s interim order on August 28, 2024.

During the due process hearing, in response to a XPS subpoena, XXxxxxx Behavioral Services produced their records on the student.  Their documents revealed that the student is not only suspected of having ADHD but also oppositional defiant disorder (ODD).  XPS was unaware of these documents until the subpoena and the documents were delivered after the XPS exhibits were due.  Nonetheless, the documents were admitted into evidence.

Legal Analysis, Findings, and Conclusions of Law

Issue 1
Whether XXXXXXXXXX Public Schools (XPS) knew or suspected that the student had a disability.  If so, whether XPS violated the student’s protections as set forth in 34 CFR 300.534. 

34 CFR § 300.534 addresses protections for children not yet determined eligible for special education and related services.  The law states as follows:

(a)  General.  A child who has not been determined to be eligible for special education and related services under this part and who has engaged in behavior that violated a code of student conduct, may assert any of the protections provided for in this part if the public agency had knowledge (as determined in accordance with paragraph (b) of this section) that the child was a child with a disability before the behavior that precipitated the disciplinary action occurred.

(b)  Basis of knowledge.  A public agency must be deemed to have knowledge that a child is a child with a disability if before the behavior that precipitated the disciplinary action occurred –

(1)  The parent of the child expressed concern in writing to supervisory or administrative personnel of the appropriate educational agency, or a teacher of the child, that the child is in need of special education and related services; (emphasis added)

(2)  The parent of the child requested an evaluation of the child pursuant to §§ 300.300 through 300.311; or 

(3)  The teacher of the child, or other personnel of the LEA, expressed specific concerns about a pattern of behavior demonstrated by the child directly to the director of special education of the agency or to other supervisory personnel of the agency.  (emphasis added)

(c)  Exception.  A public agency would not be deemed to have knowledge under paragraph (b) of this section if –

(1)  The parent of the child –

(i)  Has not allowed an evaluation of the child pursuant to §§ 300.300 through 300.311; or

(ii)  Has refused services under this part; or

(2)  The child has been evaluated in accordance with §§ 300.300 through 300.311 and determined to not be a child with a disability under this part.

(d)  Conditions that apply if no basis of knowledge. 

(1)  If a public agency does not have knowledge that a child is a child with a disability (in accordance with paragraphs (b) and (c) of this section) prior to taking disciplinary measures against the child, the child may be subjected to the disciplinary measures applied to children without disabilities who engage in comparable behaviors consistent with paragraph (d)(2) of this section.

(2)
(i)  If a request is made for an evaluation of a child during the time period in which the child is subjected to disciplinary measures under § 300.530, the evaluation must be conducted in an expedited manner.

(ii)  Until the evaluation is completed, the child remains in the educational placement determined by school authorities, which can include suspension or expulsion without educational services.

(iii)  If the child is determined to be a child with a disability, taking into consideration information from the evaluation conducted by the agency and information provided by the parent(s), the agency must provide special education and related services in accordance with this part, including the requirements of §§ 300.530 through 300.536 and section 612(a)(1)(A) of the Act.

From the beginning of school, the evidence indicates that the teacher noticed behavioral problems with the student.  These problems were communicated by the teacher to XXXXX supervisory personnel as well as the parent through the Remind app that was used by the teacher to communicate with the parent.  It was reported that the student would hit and kick other students, spit, use profanity, fail to follow instructions, and demonstrate other misbehaviors.  For these misbehaviors, the student was often suspended for a day or two.  However, on February 28, 2024 when the student struck the teacher, XX received a longer suspension and was brought before a disciplinary panel on March 12, 2024.   

In instances where the teacher of the child, or other personnel of the local educational agency (LEA), express specific concerns about a pattern of behavior demonstrated by the child directly to the director of special education of the agency or to other supervisory personnel of the agency, a public agency must be deemed to have knowledge that a child is a child with a disability.  Both Dr. XXXX and Dr. XXXXx-XXXXX, supervisory personnel, were aware that the child had a suspected disability.  XXXXX personnel were also alerted of the student’s disability by the mother who specifically told XXXXX personnel about the ADHD diagnosis at the beginning of the school year on or about August 21, 2023.  However, for some unknown reason, the mother failed to provide the written ADHD diagnosis until the disciplinary panel convened on March 12, 2024.  

XPS argues that they did not want to misidentify the student as a special education student since XX was only XXX years old and just XXXXXXXX school.  They wanted to first attempt interventions and strategies to correct the student’s physically aggressive behavioral problems.  The evidence indicates that as interventions, XPS sat the student alone in a taped-off area of the classroom called a “bubble”, often made the student eat alone in the cafeteria, provided snacks for good behavior, and employed a color chart system.  The interventions did not work.  Although XPS claims that the student’s behavior improved during October 2023 due to interventions, the student’s behavior calendar, as maintained by the teacher (XPS Ex. 9), indicates that the student continued to demonstrate physically aggressive behaviors starting at the end of October through January 2024, where the teacher’s calendar ends.  (XPS Ex. 9)

Prior to a child being referred for special education services, it is not uncommon for schools to implement a series of multi-tiered interventions designed to address the student’s needs.  This is part of the pre-referral process.  The goal of interventions is to provide support and accommodations to the student within the general education setting.  

Although interventions are often encouraged prior to referral for special education services, it was clear early on in this case that the interventions for this student were not working.  Moreover, interventions designed to isolate the student from XX peers, by placing XX in a classroom “bubble” and making XX eat alone in the cafeteria (silent lunch), are questionable.  The color chart system did not work either because the student could not reach the highest color to show that XX had good behavior for any given day.  It may have been more appropriate for XPS to implement a behavior intervention plan (BIP) to address the student’s behavioral needs or to perform a functional behavior assessment.  
  
Nonetheless, the student was suspended several times for XX behavior from the start of school.  The mother and XXxxxxxxxxxx testified that they were often called during the week to come pick up the student due to XX behavior.  They contend that the student was often suspended for a day or two starting from the beginning of school until XX long-term suspension on February 28, 2024.  The student’s attendance record is conspicuously incomplete from August 22, 2023 to December 12, 2023, making it unclear whether the student’s dismissals were considered suspensions or not by XPS.  (XPS Ex. 11)  However, the mother and XXxxxxxxxxxx testified that the student was often suspended during that time period.  Dr. XXXXx-XXXXX also acknowledged that the student was often sent home during that period.

XPS did not afford the student the protections of 34 CFR § 300.534 until a MDR was conducted on March 1, 2024, following an incident when the student hit XX teacher on February 28, 2024 that resulted in a 10 day suspension.  The MDR team questionably found that the student’s actions were not a manifestation of XX disability.  The team believed that the student hit the teacher in an act of retaliation for not getting XX way and for the teacher telling XX she was going to call XX mother.  (XPS Ex. 4)   Given the behavioral history of this student, the Hearing Officer does not accept the MDR results.  Nonetheless, XPS did the right thing by conducting an MDR.

The mother and XXxxxxxxxxxx testified that the student was suspended from one to three days, five or six times.  If a special education student or a student suspected of having a disability is suspended from school with an accumulation of more than 10 school days within a single school year, and the behaviors leading to those suspensions are substantially similar, then the student should be entitled to 34 CFR § 300.534 protections.  In this case, the attendance records are missing for most of the time when the suspensions occurred, however, basic math principles would dictate that the short-term suspensions amounted to more than 10 days.  If so, the accumulation of days for the short-term suspensions amounts to a change in placement.  

I FIND that XPS is deemed to have had knowledge from the mother that the student was a child with a disability.  I FIND that the teacher of the child expressed specific concerns directly to XXXXX supervisory personnel about the physically aggressive pattern of behavior demonstrated by the child. I FIND that the student should have been afforded the protections of 34 CFR § 300.534.  I therefore FIND that XPS failed to afford the student appropriate protections pursuant to 34 CFR § 300.534 for the short term suspensions.

Issue 2
Whether the student is entitled to home-based and/or homebound services due to Individuals with Disabilities Education Act (IDEA) substantive and/or procedural violations that were allegedly committed by XPS.
 
It is here noted that the student had received only three sessions of educational instruction from XPS since March 2024.  It was revealed to the Hearing Officer that during a resolution session between the parties, XPS agreed to provide 30 hours of home based services to the student.  However, due to scheduling issues with the teacher, only three sessions of home-based instruction was provided.  Based on the promised hours, in an interim order dated August 28, 2024, the Hearing Officer ordered home-based services for the student, three hours per session, three days a week.  Services were to start on September 3, 2024 and terminate upon entry of this decision that is due on September 22, 2024, unless otherwise ordered.

Special education home-based services are intended to provide educational support to students with disabilities who are unable to attend school due to medical or other reasons.  Homebound instruction is provided for students who are confined to their home or a healthcare facility and cannot attend school.  The goal of both home-based and homebound services is to maintain continuity of education while the student is unable to physically attend school.
 
In this case, the student can attend school.  XX is neither medically unable to attend school nor is XX confined to a medical facility or to XX home.  The student has not been to school because the parent intentionally and unilaterally kept the student out of school following the disciplinary panel on March 12, 2024.   Despite XPS disciplinary Hearing Officer’s approval for the student to return to school on March 13, 2024, the parent refused to return the student to school after suspension.

The IDEA requires that students be educated in the least restrictive environment.  I FIND that the student can attend public school.  I further FIND that public school is the least restrictive environment for the student.  Home-based and homebound services are among the most restrictive placements and are inappropriate for the student.  

Issue 3
Whether XPS violated child find laws by allegedly failing to timely evaluate the student for special education services.
Issue 4
Whether XPS violated child find laws by allegedly failing to determine special education eligibility for the student.
Issues 3 and 4 will be discussed together.

8 VAC 20-81-50 discusses Child Find, in part, as follows:  
	A.  Child Find. 
	1. Each local school division shall maintain an active and continuing child find program designed to identify, locate and evaluate those children residing in the jurisdiction who are birth to age 21, inclusive, who are in need of special education and related services, including children who: (34 CFR 300.102 and 34 CFR 300.111) (emphasis added)
	a. Are highly mobile, such as migrant and homeless children;
	b. Are wards of the state;
	c. Attend private schools, including children who are home-instructed or home-tutored;
	d. Are suspected of being children with disabilities under this chapter and in need of special education, even though they are advancing from grade to grade; (emphasis added) and
	e. Are under age 18, who are suspected of having a disability who need special education and related services, and who are incarcerated in a regional or local jail in its jurisdiction for 10 or more days.  
8 VAC 20-81-50(D) outlines the Child Find referral process and timelines as follows:
	1.  Each school shall have procedures to process in a timely manner all referral requests for a child suspected of having a disability.  (emphasis added)
	2.  Each school shall have a team to review records and other performance evidence of the child being referred in order to make recommendations to meet the child's educational and behavioral needs.
	5.  Timelines for referral process.
		a.  The team shall meet within 10 business days following the receipt of the referral.
		b.  The team shall refer the child to the special education administrator or designee within three business days if the team determines that the child should be referred for an evaluation for special education and related services.
		c.  If the team decides not to refer for an evaluation for special education and related services, prior written notice in accordance with 8 VAC 20-81-170 shall be given to the parent(s), including the parent's right to appeal the decision through the due process hearing. (34 CFR 300.507)
The child find duty is triggered when the school has a reason to suspect a disability and reason to suspect that special education services may be needed to address that disability. The screening process for determining if a child is eligible for special instruction and services includes the establishment of a child study committee at each school to meet, identify, and recommend strategies to address the child's learning, behavior, communication, or development.  Child find mandates that the committee meet within 10 business days following receipt of the referral.  The committee is then mandated to refer the child to the special education administrator or designee within five (5) business days following the determination by the child study committee that the child should be referred for evaluation for special education and related services.  8 VAC 20-80-50C3.  

8 VAC 20-80-52 directs that all children suspected of having a disability shall be referred to the special education administrator or designee, who shall initiate the process of determining eligibility for special education and related services.  Referrals may be made by any source, including child study committee, school staff, a parent, or other individual.

At the beginning of the school year, 2023-2024, the petitioner advised XPS that the student had been diagnosed with ADHD. However, the petitioner failed to provide XPS with written confirmation of the diagnosis.  Nonetheless, the student’s continuous behavioral problems, in and of themselves, coupled with the information provided by the parent, should have prompted XPS to suspect a disability and initiate the eligibility process.  If XPS were actively collaborating with TDT as the testimony of Dr. XXXXx-XXXXX indicates, XPS should have known about TDT’s suspicion that the student not only had ADHD, but also ODD.  XPS should have sought permission to get TDT records.  Also, according to Dr. XXXX, TDT services could be considered a tier 3 intervention.  If so, XPS should have reviewed TDT records.

XPS waited from the beginning of school until December 22, 2023 during a SBIT meeting, to refer the student to child study.  If XPS did not want to consider the mother’s report of ADHD, or the teacher’s reports of on-going behavior problems as a referral, the evidence suggests that they should have convened a SBIT meeting prior to December 22, 2023, if that was the referral they needed to commence the child study.  

It is clear that the student’s on-going aggressive behavior posed a problem for the classroom teacher.  XX behavior included:  hitting, pushing, kicking, and spitting on others; using profanity; throwing papers; failing to following directions; getting out of XX seat; walking upstairs to see XX XXxxx without permission or notice; talking back to the teacher; ignoring the teacher; falling out on the floor; yelling and screaming; and jumping around.  This sort of on-going behavior had to disrupt the teacher’s ability to teach, which is why she brought the student’s behavior to the attention of her superiors.  

Despite the student’s continuous disruptive behaviors, it took until December 22, 2023 to convene a SBIT meeting and refer the student for child study.  The child study meeting was conducted on January 11, 2024, after Christmas break.  At that meeting, the parent consented to the following evaluations: psychological, socio-cultural, speech and language.  The parent also consented to classroom observations, use of the teacher’s reports, and a vision screening.  (XPS Ex. 3)  The child find process was discussed and the team agreed to meet to determine eligibility following the evaluations.  One part of the psychological evaluation (educational) was completed on February 27, 2024.  (XPS Ex. 6)

However, on February 28, 2024, before the other evaluations could be started, the student hit the teacher, was suspended, and referred to a disciplinary panel that met on March 12, 2024.  The evidence suggests that the petitioner then became extremely distrustful of XPS and XXXXX personnel.  She refused to return the student to school or respond to requests for further evaluations.  If the student returned to school, the petitioner feared that her child would be expelled or sent to an alternative school.  The petitioner believed that XXXXX was not a safe environment for her child; that XXXXX personnel took way too long to commence the child find process; and that XPS was just suspending and not helping her child.  

It is not unusual for children at such a young age to exhibit unusual behaviors given it may be their first experience away from home and their first experience in a structured environment.  However, in this case, the student's behaviors were extreme and generally continuous.  XX adverse behaviors, as described earlier in this decision, should have triggered child find sooner than December 22, 2023.  With an earlier referral, the evaluation process could have started sooner, and eligibility could have already been decided.  Moreover, in March 2024, before the panel, the student had still not been fully evaluated for special education services even though the referral was made on December 22nd.    

XPS also failed to consider that the student was removed from two daycares (Pet. Ex. 61) for physically aggressive behavior prior to starting XXXXxXXXXX.  This too, should have made XPS suspect that the student had a disability and triggered child find.

Despite the mother’s notice of an ADHD diagnosis, TDT’s suspicions of ADHD and ODD, the student’s constant and extreme misbehaviors, repeated calls to Mom to pick up the student for XX aggressive behaviors, and knowledge of two removals from daycares, XPS did not initiate child find in a timely manner.  

XPS argues that they did not want to prematurely or misidentify the student.  XPS wanted to see if interventions, strategies, and incentives would help the student adjust XX behavior before moving to child find.  This approach may have been appropriate for a child that did not display such aggressive behaviors, but under the circumstances of this case, the student’s behaviors of spitting, hitting, pushing, and kicking others did not appear to be deterred by interventions.  Moreover, some of the interventions used by XPS seem to have isolated the student, such as sitting XX alone in a taped-off area of the classroom (the “bubble”), and, making XX sit alone in the cafeteria for “silent lunch.”  Mom claims that these actions caused the student emotional harm.


The petitioner argues that XPS had enough preexisting data to proceed with child find sooner than they did.   I agree and FIND that XPS failed to timely identify, locate and evaluate the student as a child suspected as one with disability(ies) and in need of special education services.  Mom claims that such actions caused the student emotional harm.

In the case of Board of Education of Fayette County, Kentucky v. L.M., 478 F. 2d 307, 216 Ed. Law Rep. 354 (2007), the Court held that to establish a procedural violation of the IDEA that caused substantive harm to the student, the student had to show that school officials overlooked clear signs of disability and were negligent in failing to order testing or that there was no rational justification for not deciding to evaluate.  At the latest, XPS should have initiated child find in early November 2023 when the student’s behavior again began to escalate.  It was clear that interventions were not working.  But instead, referral was not made until December 22, 2023.

When considering only the student's behavior, XPS’ actions, although tardy, did not rise to the level of negligence set forth in Board of Education of Fayette County, Kentucky v. L. M.  HCPS, since professional educators should be given deference regarding the use of interventions as a precursor to referral for special education services.  It is clear that XPS did not ignore the student's behavior issues.  However, they should have realized earlier that interventions were not working.  When considering the student's history of expulsion from two daycares, Mom and XXxxxxxxxx’s expressed repeated concerns, the suspensions, TDT’s documentation, along with the student’s extreme and frequent physically aggressive behaviors, XPS should have referred the student for evaluations and to child find much earlier.  

In the case of Dubrow v. Cobb County Sch.. Dist.. 887 F.3d 1182, 1193-1104 (11th Cir 2018), the Court found that a student is unlikely to need special education if: 

	1. The student meets academic standards; 
	2. Teachers do not recommend special education for the student; 
	3. The student does not exhibit unusual or alarming conduct warranting special education; (emphasis added) and 
	4. The student demonstrates the capacity to comprehend course material.  

In this case, the student apparently met academic standards, and may have even been advanced in written expression, according to the educational evaluation conducted on February 27, 2024.  It appears that the student demonstrated the capacity to comprehend course material.  The teacher did not testify and there is no evidence that the teacher recommended the student for special education services, but evidence does exist that the teacher brought the student’s behavioral problems to the attention of administrators.  The student’s conduct and propensity to be physically aggressive was both unusual and alarming, thereby warranting child find.   

In Alvin Independent Sch. Dist. v. A.D., 503 F/3d 378 (5th Cir. 2007) the Court found that a student with a diagnosis of ADHD did not require special education because he demonstrated satisfactory educational performance and social skills in the school setting.  In this case, the student has exhibited unusual and alarming conduct perhaps warranting special education.  XX alarming behavior also puts the issue of XX social skills in question.  Testimony and exhibits indicate that the student hit, pushed, and kicked others, used profanity, and spit.  These actions do not present as acceptable social skills.  The student should have been identified earlier by school personnel as a child suspected of needing special education services.

XPS alleges that they were unable to adequately assess the student because petitioner removed XX from the school on March 13, 2024.  In the case of W. B. v. Matula, 67 F.3d. 484 (3rd Cir. 1995) the court stated the following:  "Neither the statutes nor regulations establish a deadline by which time children who are suspected of having a qualifying disability must be identified and evaluated, but we infer a requirement that this be done within a reasonable time after school officials are on notice of behavior that is likely to indicate a disability."  The court further states in Matula that "if school employees know or have reason to suspect that a child has a disability, these school employees have an affirmative duty to act on the child's behalf.  If they fail to do so, they have defaulted in their obligation to identify, locate, and evaluate children with disabilities who need individualized special education programs." In this case, I FIND that XPS defaulted in their obligation to timely identify, locate, and evaluate the student as a child with a suspected disability and in need of special education services.  

XPS waited from August 21, 2023 when first alerted about the student’s ADHD by the mother, to December 22, 2023 to identify the student as a child with a disability that may have been in need of individualized special education services.  XPS did not conduct the first evaluation until February 27, 2024.  Given the history and physically aggressive behavior of the student, XPS’ referral time was unreasonably delayed.  I therefore FIND that XPS violated child find laws.

Issue 5
Whether the student should be privately placed to receive a free appropriate public education (FAPE) due to alleged XPS violations of 34 CFR 300.534 and child find laws.

The parent is seeking that the student be privately placed at XXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXX XXXXXXXXX, Virginia.  The evidence does not suggest that the student was denied a free and appropriate public education (FAPE) by XPS.  The student is academically sound.  The evidence does not support a conclusion that the student was adversely academically impacted.  It does not appear that the student was academically deprived.  Moreover, private placement is not the least restrictive environment for the student.  Therefore, I FIND private placement inappropriate for the student.  

The student will remain at XXXXX XXXXXXXX with XX friends and familiar surroundings.  The student has already endured enough displacement through absences.

The parties are admonished that they must work together, harmoniously, for the sake of the student.  Past animosities must be put aside.  


Prevailing Party
1. Whether XXXXXXXXXX Public Schools (XPS) knew or suspected that the student had a disability.  If so, whether XPS violated the student’s protections as set forth in 34 CFR 300.534.  - petitioner

2. Whether the student is entitled to home based and/or homebound services due to Individuals with Disabilities Education Act (IDEA) substantive and/or procedural violations that were allegedly committed by XPS. - respondent

3.  Whether XPS violated child find laws by allegedly failing to timely evaluate the student for special education services. - petitioner

4.  Whether XPS violated child find laws by allegedly failing to determine special education eligibility for the student.- petitioner

5. Whether the student should be privately placed to receive a free appropriate public education (FAPE) due to alleged XPS violations of 34 CFR 300.534 and child find laws. - respondent

Orders
The student will continue to attend XXXXX XXXXXXXX School.

The student will be assigned a one-on-one assistant for the remainder of school year 2024 - 2025. 

The student is promptly referred to an eligibility team to determine if XX is eligible for special education services based on existing data.

If determined to be eligible for special education services, an individualized education program (IEP) will be promptly developed for the student.

In the event results from the IEEs have not been received at the school by November 1, 2024, appropriate personnel from XPS will conduct the evaluations that were ordered in the interim order dated August 28, 2024.  Evaluations are needed to best determine the specific needs of the student.  Once evaluation results have been received, they will be thoroughly reviewed by the school and parent to either re-review eligibility or fine tune an IEP.

The student will be promptly given a functional behavior assessment by XPS.

A team will promptly meet to put into place a behavior intervention plan for the student.

A team will promptly meet to put into place a safety plan for the student.

Home-based services, as ordered by the Hearing Officer in the interim order dated August 28, 2024, are hereby terminated.



Rights of Appeal
This is the final administrative decision in this matter. A decision by the special education Hearing Officer in any hearing is final and binding unless the decision is appealed by a party in a state circuit court within 180 days of the issuance of the decision, or in a federal district court within 90 days of the issuance of the decision. The appeal may be filed in either a state circuit court or a federal district court without regard to the amount in controversy.  

IT IS SO ORDERED.
						ENTERED:   September 22, 2024 

								
						________________________________________
						Rhonda Mitchell
						Hearing Officer
Copies to (via email):  
	Advocate for Petitioner / Student				
	Counsel for XXXXXXXXXX Public Schools
VDOE
Case Monitor				
